STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal From Charleston County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002725

RECEIVED
AUG 20 2015
SC Court of Appeals

Clark D. Thomas, Appellant,

V.

Evening Post Publishing Co.,
d/b/a The Post and Courier,
Glenn Smith, Officially
and Individually, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Clark D. Thomas
Appellant

BRCI / Moultrie A-2087
4460 Broad River Road
Columbia, SC 29210

Pro se Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the trial court err when denying Appellant's motions for continuance or, for dismissal without prejudice and tolling of the statute of limitations in violation of Appellant's right to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law?

II.

Did the trial court err when granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment on grounds that Appellant failed to proffer evidence establishing a genuine issue of material fact in violation of Appellant's right to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law?

III.

Did the trial court err when failing to remand for review the novel issue of being libel-proof in violation of Appellant's right to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the final *Order* in the Court of Common Pleas for the Ninth Judicial Circuit granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 5-7). Appellant, Clark D. Thomas, filed this lawsuit for libel and the intentional infliction of emotional distress in response to an article written and published about him by Respondents. Thomas is seeking \$250,000 in actual damages, punitive damages in an amount to be determined by a jury and, for pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.

FACTS

Precursory Publications

Respondents' first article about Thomas dated June 9, 2006, is based on allegations in a police report made by Thomas' then-wife, Rachel M. Crowley, after he asked for a divorce. Consequently, Thomas was charged with kidnapping and criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature (underlying criminal matter). Respondents' second article setting forth those same false allegations and published on March 1, 2007, is centered on Thomas' release from jail on bond. However, it was supplemented with more allegations made by Crowley and her mother, Cathy Meree, during an interview conducted by Respondent Smith while preparing that article for print.

In response, Thomas alerted Smith on or about March 3, 2007, to the fact that both of the foregoing articles were inaccurate. And when Thomas was erroneously convicted in the underlying criminal matter: the evidence went on record confirming that Respondents' articles are grounded on false statements. However, Respondents' third article printed after Thomas' trial on July 12, 2008, again reiterated the same allegations despite having been controverted.

Divorce Trial Proceedings

During Thomas and Crowley's divorce trial on September 20, 2012: Thomas entered into the record under oath that Smith was in attendance; and that Smith should confirm his facts before writing another story about him for publication. And Thomas' mother, Carol Ann Cook, along with other family members, friends and associates in attendance would have supplied Smith with the information required to write a veritable story: but he did not seek to interview any of them. Be that as it may, Cook did ask Smith not to publish another story before hearing the truth. (R. p. 89, ¶ 12; p. 103, ¶ 10). And the next day on September 21, 2012: Cook emailed Smith to relay that Thomas wanted to provide him with the documents proving his articles are based on events that did not happen. (R. p. 97). However, Respondents published the article in dispute on September 23, 2012.

Procedural History

Thomas formally requested that Respondents retract the article in dispute on September 12, 2013: but Respondents failed to comply. (R. p. 95, ¶ 44; p. 106, ¶ 25). Consequently, Thomas filed his *Complaint* on September 17, 2013, setting forth the article dated September 23, 2013, as the grounds for this action, (R. pp. 9-81); and Respondents filed their *Answer* on October 17, 2013. (R. pp. 82-86). And Respondents filed a motion on October 18, 2013, seeking a judgment on the pleadings as to claims alleged of libel arising out of publications on June 9, 2006, March 1, 2007, and July 12, 2008. (R. p. 109).

In response, Thomas filed an *Amended Complaint* on November 22, 2013, to supplement the pleadings with, among other things, specificity regarding the reason for this lawsuit and an additional claim for the intentional infliction of emotional distress, (R. pp. 87-101); and Respondents filed their *Answer* on November 27, 2013. (R. pp. 102-108). Thomas also filed on

November 22, 2013, a request for judicial notice to be taken of, *inter alia*, the fact that the only cause of action for this lawsuit is Respondents' disputed article published on September 23, 2012. What's more, Thomas filed his arguments in support in a written *Motion*—that included an affidavit establishing genuine issues of material fact—explaining why a hearing was not required. (R. pp. 110-113). Also provided was a proposed *Order of Judicial Notice* stating that a hearing for Respondents' motion for judgment on the pleadings should not be convened. (R. p. 115, ¶ 1).

Despite his efforts, Thomas was unnecessarily transported to the hearing on January 10, 2014, where Respondents withdrew their motion for judgment on the pleadings saying that it was moot. (R. p. 141, lines 11-12). And the following day on January 11, 2014: Thomas received Respondents' letter dated January 7, 2014, claiming to have formally withdrawn that motion. (R. p. 206). Be that as it may, the court seemed to be laying the blame for that pointless hearing on Thomas. (R. p. 142, lines 18-25). Therefore, Thomas wrote the court on April 1, 2014, giving a detailed account of the facts absolving him. (R. pp. 207-208). However, Thomas' letter was filed by the court on July 8, 2014, with a response dated April 15, 2014, wherein the court stated that Thomas appeared to be expressing his desire to dismiss this case. (R. p. 209).

Discovery & Summary Judgment

Respondents served Thomas with interrogatories on December 5, 2013, (R. pp. 162-163); and Thomas fully responded when serving them with his interrogatories and request for production of documents on March 5, 2014. (R. pp. 164-173). Respondents then served Thomas with their request for admissions on May 19, 2014, (R. pp. 174-192), and they responded to Thomas' discovery requests on June 12, 2014. (R. pp. 193-197). Respondents then filed their motion for summary judgment on July 2, 2014, on grounds that the news report complained of

by Thomas is (1) privileged as a fair and accurate account of judicial records and proceedings; (2) true or substantially true; and (3) that Thomas' reputation, based on his criminal history, rendered him *libel-proof*. (R. pp. 116-117). Respondents filed with their summary judgment motion (1) a copy of their request for admissions, (R. pp. 174-192); (2) a copy of their response to Thomas' interrogatories, (R. pp. 193-196); (3) the *affidavit* of Respondent Glenn Smith executed on June 18, 2014, (R. pp. 198-205); and (4) a copy of the transcript of Thomas' divorce trial proceedings. (R. pp. 239-527). A hearing was later scheduled for September 10, 2014.

Continuance & Tolling Motions

The facts in this case involve the same allegations made by Thomas' then-wife, Rachel M. Crowley, in the underlying criminal matter. To that end, Thomas' hearing for post-conviction relief (PCR) was finally convened on December 8, 2014, after having been continued several times; and a final ruling in that matter has not yet been handed down. With that in mind, the court hearing Thomas' divorce ruled that Crowley's false allegations in the underlying criminal matter could not be raised outside of PCR proceedings—despite their relevance—which resulted in Thomas being denied relief. Therefore, Thomas filed on October 6, 2014, a motion for continuance; or in the alternative, a motion for dismissal without prejudice and tolling of the statute of limitations to allow time for his PCR issues to be fully adjudicated. (R. pp. 118-132).

Thomas also filed 14 supplementary character *affidavits* on October 6, 2014, in response to Respondents' summary judgment motion seeking to establish that he is not *libel-proof*. (R. pp. 119-132). And on October 28, 2014, Thomas filed a *Memorandum of Law* in opposition to Respondents' motion for summary judgment that was also comprised of arguments in support of his motion for a continuance, or dismissal and tolling. (R. pp. 210-238). However, on October 29, 2014, Thomas' motions were denied; and Respondents were granted summary judgment on

the grounds that Thomas failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact. And on December 1, 2014, the court denied Thomas' motion to alter or amend, (R. p. 8), filed on November 17, 2014. (R. pp. 133-139). This *Appeal* filed on December 29, 2014, follows:

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pro Se Litigation

The United States Supreme Court has consistently held that they “do not impose on persons unlearned in the law the same high standards of the legal art that they might place on the members of the legal profession.” Pollard v. United States, 352 U.S. 354, 363 (1957). *Pro se* litigants are held “to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers.” Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 523 (1972). “As a *pro se* litigant, the Plaintiff’s pleadings are accorded liberal construction, and held to a less stringent standard than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers.” (Emphasis added). (Citation omitted). Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 94 (2007). “When the United States Supreme Court enunciates a rule based upon the Fourteenth Amendment, that rule is binding upon state courts through the *Supremacy Clause*.” (Emphasis added). (Citation omitted). Keeler v. Mauney, 500 S.E.2d 123, 125 (S.C.App. 1998).

Summary Judgment

“In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, as will preclude summary judgment, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” (Citation omitted). Murray v. Holnam, 542 S.E.2d 743, 747 (S.C.App. 2001). “Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” (Citation omitted). *Id.* “All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party.” (Citation omitted). *Id.*

“Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” (Citation omitted). *Id.* “In general, if the pleadings and the evidentiary matter in support of summary judgment do

not establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, summary judgment must be denied, even if no opposing evidentiary matter is presented.” (Citation omitted). *Murray*, 542 S.E.2d at 747. “In order to withstand a motion for summary judgment ..., the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence.” (Citation omitted). *Fountain v. First Reliance Bank*, 730 S.E.2d 305, 309 (S.C. 2012).

Constitutional Rights & Preservation

“If a [plaintiff] wishes to claim that an evidentiary ruling at a state court trial denied him due process of law as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment, he must say so, not only in federal court, but in state court.” *Duncan v. Henry*, 518 U.S. 364, 366 (1995). “[F]ailure to raise constitutional issues at trial results in waiver on appeal.” (Citation omitted). *State v. Powers*, 501 S.E.2d 116, 118 (S.C. 1998). “Even if the court only issues a form order in response to a[n] ... [issue], and a party does not make 59(e) motion, if the arguments in support of the [issue] are included in the record on appeal, they are preserved.” (Citation omitted). Jean Hoefer Toal, Shahim Yafai, Robert A. Muckenfuss, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 60 (2nd Edition 2002).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court erred when denying Appellant's motions for continuance or, for dismissal without prejudice and tolling of the statute of limitations in violation of Appellant's right to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law.

"[A]nything having a legitimate tendency to throw light on the accuracy, truthfulness, and sincerity of a witness may be shown...." (Citation omitted). State v. Dickerson, 716 S.E.2d 895, 904 (S.C. 2011). "South Carolina precedent has firmly established that otherwise inadmissible evidence may be properly admitted when opposing counsel 'opens the door' to that evidence." State v. Rice, 652 S.E.2d 409, 422 (S.C.App. 2007).

"A 'stipulation' ... constitutes express waiver ... conceding for the purposes of trial the truth of some alleged fact, with the fact thereafter to be taken for granted, so that the one party need offer no evidence to prove it, and the other is not allowed to disprove it." (Internal quotations in original). Vander Linden v. Hodges, 193 F.3d 268, 279 (4th Cir. 1999). "A *pro se* litigant, whether an attorney or layperson, does not become liable for or subject to fees charged by an attorney." (Emphasis in original). Calhoun v. Calhoun, 529 S.E.2d 14, 17 (S.C. 2000).

"[T]he court having jurisdiction of the matter may grant any necessary or reasonable continuance." State v. Barnes, 753 S.E.2d 545, 564 (S.C. 2014). And the court in Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr., 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (S.C. 2009), explained:

"“The equitable power of a court is not bound by cast-iron rules but exists to fairness and is flexible and adaptable to particular exigencies so that relief will be granted when, in view of all the circumstances, to deny it would permit one party to suffer a gross wrong at the hands of the other. Equitable tolling may be applied where it is justified under all the circumstances.””

Prejudice of Infamy

During the course of Thomas' divorce trial proceedings in the case at bar: Crowley and her mother, Cathy Meree, gave perjured testimony to elude, among other things, the prospect of being ordered to compensate Thomas for his non-marital assets. By way of explanation, every time Crowley testified inconsistently with her testimony during the underlying criminal trial, the court would not allow Thomas to use the record of those proceedings to impeach her on grounds that those were PCR issues—even when Crowley expressly *opened the door* to the underlying criminal matter. (R. p. 427, lines 17-25—p. 428, lines 1-14). And when Thomas did manage to enter evidence from the underlying criminal matter proving Meree had lied on the stand, the court denied Thomas' request for judicial notice of that perjury. (R. p. 439, lines 6-14; p. 518, lines 24-25—p. 519, line 1).

What's more, despite Crowley stipulating to having committed adultery: the court denied Thomas relief on those grounds because he didn't offer proof when the court had prevented him from doing so because Crowley had already stipulated to adultery. (R. p. 286, lines 5-7; p. 385, lines 16-21; p. 520, lines 2-5). Thomas was also denied relief on one year's continuous separation for failure to prove it when he had been in prison for more than four years. (R. p. 306, lines 11-15; p. 519, lines 15-20). Then the court ordered, among other things, that Thomas must pay Crowley's lawyer \$9,000 within 30 days of his release from prison notwithstanding the fact that he is a *pro se* litigant. (R. p. 526, lines 18-22). In other words, the evidence indicates that Thomas was prejudiced in that action because of the nature of his charges in the underlying criminal matter. In fact, that postulation seems to have infected every attempt Thomas has made to rightfully protect his legal interests.

With those facts in mind, it appears that the trial court in the case at hand may well have also been influenced by the impact of Thomas' current circumstances. By way of explanation, Respondents have argued just that very infamy as one of the grounds for summary judgment in their favor—that Thomas is *libel-proof*. And while the review of all the documentation in this case reveals that Thomas filed 15 affidavits, *inter alia*, establishing genuine issues of material fact, (R. pp. 119-132), the trial court determined that no such evidence was presented. (R. p. 152, lines 13-15).

Consequently, had the trial court postponed the review of Respondents' motion for summary judgment until the final ruling is handed down in Thomas' PCR: the prejudice engendered by the degradational effect of those convictions would have been lifted and, thereby, enabling justice to be properly served. Therefore, the trial court erred when denying Thomas' motions for continuance or, for dismissal without prejudice and tolling of the statute of limitations.

ARGUMENT

II.

The trial court erred when granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment on grounds that Appellant failed to proffer evidence establishing a genuine issue of material fact in violation of Appellant's right to due process and equal protection as guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and South Carolina law.

"When ruling on motion for summary judgment, trial judge must consider *all* of the documents and evidence *within the record*, including the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions on file, and affidavits." (Emphasis in original). (Citation omitted). Higgins v. Medical University of South Carolina, 486 S.E.2d 269, 272 (S.C.App. 1997). Black's Law Dictionary 1698 (9th Edition 2009) defines *verify* as "[t]o prove to be true; to confirm or establish the truth or truthfulness of; to authenticate," or "[t]o confirm or substantiate by oath or affidavit; to swear to the truth of." "A verified complaint is an acceptable substitute for an affidavit in a summary judgment motion as long as the pleading satisfies 56(e)." Dawkins v. Fields, 580 S.E.2d 433 (S.C. 2003).

"If triable issues exist, those issues must go to jury." (Citation omitted). Worsley Companies v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 528 S.E.2d 657, 660 (S.C. 2000). "The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite the disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder." (Citation omitted). Singleton v. Sherer, 659 S.E.2d 196, 197 (S.C.App. 2008). "Unless the trial court finds ... that the Plaintiff *can prove* actual malice, ... it should grant summary judgment for the defendant." (Emphasis in original). (Citation omitted). George v. Fabri, 548 S.E.2d 868, 875 (S.C. 2001). "For a summary judgment to be granted, it must be perfectly clear that no issue of fact is involved." (Citation omitted). Davenport v. Island Ford, Lincoln, Mercury, Inc., 465 S.E.2d 737, 739 (S.C.App. 1995). "[T]he false statement made with

reckless disregard of the truth do[es] not enjoy constitutional protections.” (Citation omitted).

Anderson v. The Augusta Chronical, 585 S.E.2d 506, 513 (S.C.App. 2003).

““Credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge, whether he is ruling on a motion for summary judgment or for a directed verdict, the evidence presented by [appellant] is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favor.”” (Internal quotation marks omitted). (Citations omitted). *Id.*

Sworn Testimony

In the case at bar, Thomas was under oath during his divorce trial proceedings when stating that (1) Respondents had printed a lot of lies about him; (2) Respondent Glenn Smith lacked integrity, and was only interested in selling newspapers; (3) Respondents had a duty to disclose the truth, but would likely attempt to further destroy his credibility in their next article; and (4) that Respondents were not interested in the facts. (R. p. 314, lines 11-25; p. 348, lines 24-25—p. 350, lines 1-15). It should be noted that Thomas had his witnesses subpoenaed to testify during the summary judgment proceedings. And Thomas sought to be sworn in to testify, but the court would not allow any testimony. (R. p. 151, lines 21-25—p. 152, lines 1-11).

Verified Pleadings

Respondents have verified that the following averments in the *Amended Complaint* are true statements of fact:

1. Smith was notified on or about March 3, 2007, that their articles are rife with lies, (R. p. 88, ¶ 5; p. 102, ¶ 4);
2. Thomas’ mother, Carol Ann Cook, told Respondent Smith during Thomas’ divorce trial

on September 20, 2012, that he should hear the truth before writing another story about Thomas, (R. p. 89, ¶ 12; p. 103, ¶ 10);

3. Cook emailed Smith the next day on September 21, 2012, to convey Thomas' eagerness to provide them with documents on public record proving their previous articles were based on events that did not actually happen. (R. p. 89, ¶ 13; p. 103, ¶ 10); and,

4. Respondents refused to retract the article in dispute. (R. p. 95, ¶ 44; p. 106, ¶ 25).

With that in mind, Thomas' request for retraction clearly reveals Smith's malicious reaction to Thomas having disparaged him in open court. (R. pp. 32-58) In other words: with common law actual malice, Smith recklessly disregarded the truth to avenge Thomas. Therefore, Respondents have erroneously argued that the article in dispute (1) is privileged as a fair and accurate account of judicial records and proceedings; (2) is true or substantially true; and (3) that Thomas is *libel-proof*. (R. p. 116).

Opposing Affidavits

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