STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

R. Markley Dennis, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002725

Clark D. Thomas.....Appellant

Vs.

Evening Post Publishing Co., Inc. d/b/a The Post and Courier,
Glenn Smith, Officially.....Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Columbia, South Carolina

September 8, 2015

Jay Bender
BAKER, RAVENEL & BENDER, L.L.P.
3710 Landmark Dr., Suite 400
Post Office Box 8057
Columbia, SC 29202
803.799.9091 (telephone)
803.779.3423 (facsimile)
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

SEP 08 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON GROUNDS THAT THE NEWS REPORT OF SEPTEMBER 23, 2012 WAS PRIVILEGED UNDER THE "FAIR REPORT" PRIVILEGE AS THE FAIR AND ACCURATE REPORT OF OFFICIAL RECORDS AND PROCEEDINGS.

The "fair report" privilege has long been recognized in South Carolina law to protect from defamation claims the fair and substantially accurate reports of official proceedings and records. *See Oliveros v. Henderson*, 116 S.C. 77, 106 S.E. 855 (1921). The application of the privilege is to be determined by the trial court as a matter of law, *see Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA*, 334 S.C. 469, 514 S.E.2d 126 (1999); *id.*, and, when applied, the privilege insulates from libel claims those who publish the contents official records and statements, even when those statements and records contain false information, *White v. Wilkerson*, 328 S.C. 179, 186, 493 S.E.2d 345, 348 (1997). Smith's affidavit states clearly and

¹ Appellant's statement of issues on appeal does not include a challenge to the trial court's decision with respect to the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, and his brief makes no specific argument or cites any authority regarding the ruling on the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim. Under these circumstances, the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim is not before the court. *Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Systems, LLC*, 394 S.C. 268, 715 S.E.2d 362 (Ct. App. 2011).

unequivocally that the content of the news report of September 23, 2012 came either from his review of public records, information provided by a public spokesperson or his personal observations at the divorce trial. Appellant might not like the contents of the public record or the trial proceedings being reported on and may believe them to be false, but respondents are protected from liability, and are entitled to a judgment as a matter of law absent a showing by appellant that the privilege did not apply or was abused. Appellant made no such showing.²

The September 23, 2012 news report complained of by appellant, (R. pp. 98-101), was an account by respondent Glenn Smith (Smith) of plaintiff's *pro se* representation in his divorce action against his wife, and the contents of records relating to the divorce and the criminal acts by appellant directed at his wife that led to appellant's felony conviction and incarceration.

In his affidavit in support of the motion for summary judgment Smith provides a point-by-point foundation for the statements in the news report complained of by appellant. (R. pp. 198-205). Smith stated that the facts he reported about the events leading to appellant's criminal conviction were taken from a police "incident report" prepared by the North Charleston Police Department dated June 5, 2006. (R. pp. 199-200, ¶¶ 9-13). Respondents requested that appellant admit that the police report was a genuine copy of an incident report prepared by the North Charleston Police Department. (R. pp. 199-200, ¶ 1). Respondents' Requests for Admission were served on May 19, 2014, and appellant did not respond. The request was deemed admitted

² Appellant contends that his Amended Complaint (R. pp. 87-103) was verified, that an affidavit he filed with his motion for judicial notice (R. pp. 111-113), and his demand for retraction satisfy the requirement of S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(e) that an adverse party responding to a properly supported motion for summary judgment demonstrate by affidavit or otherwise the existence of specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. (Appellant's Br. 12-15). This argument is unavailing as the Amended Complaint does not appear to be verified in conformity with S.C. R. Civ. P. 11(c), if at all, and the affidavit accompanying the motion for judicial notice does not conform to the requirements of S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(e). While a verified complaint conforming to the requirements of S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(e) will be treated as the equivalent of an affidavit, the Supreme Court of South Carolina noted that few pleadings, even if verified, would meet the requirements of the rule. *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E.2d 433 (2003). Nothing submitted by plaintiff in opposition to the supported motion identified by affidavit or otherwise specifies genuine issues of material fact.

by operation of S.C. R. Civ. P. 36(a) (a “matter is admitted unless, within 30 days after service . . . the party to whom the request is directed serves . . . a written answer or objection”) and the trial court could accept that the police report as genuine.³ The narrative in the police report recounts the circumstances of appellant’s arrest for criminal domestic violence of a high and aggravated nature against his wife. (R. pp. 178-182). Appellant complains that the news report inaccurately and falsely reported the circumstances leading to his arrest, (R. pp. 90-91, ¶¶ 19–22), but Smith stated in his affidavit that his reporting was based on the police report, (R. pp. 199-200 ¶¶ 9–13). Appellant filed nothing to challenge the accuracy of Smith’s reporting of the contents of the police report.

Smith’s affidavit stated that items in the news report concerning the divorce trial were either his observations from attending the trial (R. pp. 198-199, ¶¶ 5–6) or supported by trial testimony. (R. pp. 199-204, ¶¶ 7–8, 14–24). Appellant filed nothing to challenge the accuracy of Smith’s report of the trial.

Smith noted in his affidavit that appellant alleged the cost reported for his *pro se* divorce representation was false. (R. pp. 200-201, ¶ 16). However, Smith said the information regarding the costs associated with appellant’s divorce activities was provided by a “spokesperson for the South Carolina Department of Corrections” (*Id.*) Appellant filed nothing to challenge the accuracy of the report of the costs of his divorce to the State of South Carolina.

Appellant complained that the headline on the news report was a statement of opinion to mean that appellant’s efforts in family court warranted the unfavorable rulings. (R. pp. 93-94 ¶ 33). Smith stated in his affidavit that he did not write the headline, (R. p. 204, ¶ 25), but regardless of who wrote the headline, appellant filed nothing in support of his allegation.

³ In his motion to alter or amend the grant of summary judgment appellant acknowledged that he did not respond to respondents’ requests for admission, and that all requests, except the one relating to whether he was also known as Thomas Wayne Poore, were confirmed as true. (R. p. 137)

Notwithstanding plaintiff's failure to respond in accordance with the requirements of S.C. R. Civ. P. 56 to respondents' supported motion for summary judgment, there is no such thing as a false opinion, *see Gertz v. Robert Welch, Inc.*, 418 U.S. 323, 94 S.Ct. 2997 (1974), and no liability will attach without the publication of a false statement of fact. *Id.*

In the case of *White v. Wilkerson*, 328 S.C. 179, 493 S.E.2d 345 (1997), attorneys sued the mayor of the City of Cayce and a radio station which had broadcast remarks by the mayor on a radio show that the attorneys received \$60,000 of a \$65,000 settlement payment made by the City to resolve a police brutality suit. The statement by the mayor was false. The trial judge dismissed the libel claim against the radio station on grounds that the broadcast of the mayor's remarks was privileged under the "fair report" privilege. The Supreme Court of South Carolina affirmed the dismissal of the claim against the station, holding:

Appellants argue the trial judge erred in finding WMHK was protected by a qualified privilege because WMHK exceeded any privilege it may have had. The "fair report" privilege protects fair and accurate reports of "judicial records and proceedings and other official acts, reports, and records." S.C. Jur. *Libel and Slander* § 61 (1993) (footnote omitted). *See also Jones v. Garner*, 250 S.C. 479, 158 S.E.2d 909 (1968).

White, 328 S.C. at 186, 493 S.E.2d at 348.

The rationale for the recognition of a fair report privilege is to protect those who would bring information to the public about the operations of their governmental agencies and of matters of public interest. *See Robert D. Sack, Sack on Defamation: Libel, Slander and Related Problems* (1st ed. 1980). The privilege is a conditional or qualified privilege which will be lost if the publication or publications were motivated by "actual malice." *See Jones v. Garner*, 250 S.C. 479, 158 S.E.2d 909 (1968). The term "actual malice" has two meanings dependent upon whether a defendant in a libel case is raising a constitutional defense or a common law privilege

defense. *See Sanders v. Prince*, 304 S.C. 236, 403 S.E.2d 640 (1991). The Supreme Court of South Carolina noted the distinction between the two types of malice, stating:

In cases involving the defamation of a public official, the plaintiff must prove that the defendant acted with constitutional actual malice, that is, with knowledge that the statement was false or with reckless disregard of its falsity. *New York Times v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 279-80, 84 S.Ct. 710, 726, 11 L.Ed.2d 686, 706 (1964). “Instructions [on common law malice], which permit the jury to impose liability on the basis of the defendant’s hatred, spite, ill will, or desire to injure are clearly impermissible.” *Old Dominion Branch No. 496 v. Austin*, 418 U.S. 264, 281, 94 S.Ct. 2770, 280, 41 L.Ed. 2d 745, 760 (1974). “Ill will toward the plaintiff, or bad motives are not elements of the *New York Times Standard*.” *Id.*

Sanders, 304 S.C. at 239-40, 403 S.E.2d at 643.

While common law malice is not an element of constitutional actual malice in the *New York Times* line of cases, it is a plaintiff’s burden to prove common law malice to defeat the common law fair report privilege. The meaning of malice in the common law sense was established by the Supreme Court of South Carolina:

Actual malice means that the defendant was actuated by ill will in what he did, with the design to causelessly and wantonly injure the plaintiff; or that the statements were published with such recklessness as to show a conscious indifference toward plaintiff’s rights. *See: Rogers v. Florence Printing Co.*, 233 S.C. 567, 106 S.E.2d 257.

Jones, 250 S.C. at 488, 158 S.E.2d at 914.

The grant of summary judgment was appropriate because in response to respondents’ properly supported motion for summary judgment, appellant made no showing that the publications were motivated by common law malice, *i.e.* hatred, ill will or spite directed at appellant such as would overcome the “fair report” privilege. S.C. R. Civ. P. 56(e). None of the

affidavits filed by appellant supported the allegations of the Amended Complaint or demonstrated the existence of genuine issues of material fact regarding either the inapplicability of the “fair report” privilege or a publication exceeding the bounds of the privilege.

II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON GROUNDS THAT APPELLANT HAD FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING THE FALSITY OF THE SEPTEMBER 23, 2012 NEWS REPORT.

If the publication of the September 23, 2012 news report was not privileged, respondents would nevertheless have no liability unless appellant could prove the falsity of any defamatory facts published of and concerning him in the report. The first element of a libel claim is the publication of a false and defamatory statement of and concerning another. *Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc.*, 332 S.C. 502, 506 S.E.2d 497, 506 (1998) (Toal, J., concurring). Historically a defamatory statement was presumed to be false, and a defendant could avoid liability by proving the truth of the publication. This allocation of burden of proof has been shifted by the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in *Philadelphia Newspapers v. Hepps*, 475 U.S. 767, 106 S.Ct. 1558 (1986). In cases involving a publication relating to a matter of public interest, a plaintiff must prove the falsity of the publication. *Id.* The news report complained of by appellant related to the operation of the Family Court system and the novelty of *pro se* representation by an inmate convicted of a violent felony against the defendant in a divorce action. It is beyond question that the function of the court system in this unusual circumstance was a matter of public interest, such as would require appellant to prove the falsity of the publication. See *Parker v. Evening Post Pub. Co.*, 317 S.C. 236, 452 S.E.2d 640, *cert. denied*, 516 U.S.1172, 116 S.Ct. 1263 (1994). See also *Doe v. Berkeley Publishers, Inc.*, 329 S.C. 412, 496 S.E.2d 636, *cert. denied*, 524 U.S. 963, 119 S.Ct. 406 (1998). Appellant offered no proof by affidavit or otherwise that any unprivileged publication was false. Appellant failed

to meet his burden of proof on the issue of falsity, leading to the conclusion that summary judgment in favor of respondents was appropriate. *Baughman v. Amer. Tel. and Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991).

III. THE COURT DOES NOT HAVE BEFORE IT AN APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE OR DISMISSAL.

In his brief appellant argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion for continuance or dismissal. (Appellant's Br. pp. 9–11). The Notice of Appeal states that the appeal is from the order granting summary judgment dated October 31, 2014 and filed November 4, 2014 and the order denying appellant's motion to alter or amend filed December 1, 2014. (R. p. 528). Appellant did not attach to the Notice of Appeal any order for which he sought review. Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(ii), SCACR, requires that “[a] copy of the order(s) . . . to be challenged on appeal if they have been reduced to writing” be attached to the Notice of Appeal. The same day that the Notice of Appeal was dated, appellant transmitted to the Clerk of the Court of Appeals a letter requesting that the order granting summary judgment be attached to the Notice of Appeal “whereas it was inadvertently left out.” (R. p. 530). Significantly, appellant did not attach any order regarding a continuance or dismissal; therefore, those questions are not before the court.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has said the failure to follow procedural requirements may deprive a court of appellate jurisdiction:

The failure of a party to comply with the procedural requirements for perfecting an appeal may deprive the court of “appellate” jurisdiction over the case....

Great Games, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 339 S.C. 79, 82 n.5, 529 S.E.2d 6, 7 n.5 (2000).

Appellate jurisdiction in the circuit court was found to be limited where an appellant amended the notice of appeal to limit the issues on appeal to orders of October and December 2004. Appellant there “failed to appeal the April 2004 order . . .” and the Supreme Court of

South Carolina held that the circuit court had no appellate jurisdiction over the April 2004 order. *Ulmer v. Ulmer*, 369 S.C. 486, 491, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006). The Notice of Appeal in the within-captioned matter stated that the appeal was as to two orders relating to the grant of summary judgment. Appellant transmitted to the court only one order to be attached to the Notice of Appeal. This court lacks appellate jurisdiction over any order relating to continuance or voluntary dismissal. Had orders other than the October 31, 2014 order been attached to the Notice of Appeal, the absence of a reference to those orders in the Notice of Appeal could have been excused as a clerical error which would not affect the court's appellate jurisdiction, but appellant supplied the court with only one order for review. Under these circumstances, the requirements of Rule 203(d)(1)(B)(ii), SCACR, have not been met with respect to any order other than the October 31, 2014 order. Consideration of matters other than those raised with respect to that order would be improper.

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